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MARGOLIS, Circuit Judge:  
 

I. BACKGROUND  
 

This case reaches us on appeal from the United States District 
Court for the District of Fordham.  The Teacher Retirement System 
of Fordham (“TRSF”) and the Fordham Municipal Retirement Fund 
(“FMRF”) appeal the District Court’s grant of the Red River 
Exploration Company (“Red River”) and James Wilson’s motion to 
dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted 
under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 
This appeal concerns two distinct issues.  First, whether TRSF 

and FMRF alleged a viable claim against Red River under Section 
10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934.  Second, whether 
TRSF and FMRF were required to allege that James Wilson was a 
culpable participant in Red River’s primary violation of Section 
10(b) in order to state a control person liability claim against him 
under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. 

 
A. SUMMARY OF THE CASE 

 
James Wilson founded Red River in West Texas in 1962.  In 

its first thirty years, Red River overcame a series of environmental 
problems, geological missed calls, and destructive oil field fires to 
become one of the United States’ larger independent oil exploration 
companies.  Exploring in fields holding depleted reserves, or having 
unpromising geological characteristics, Wilson managed to discover 
productive formations that larger oil companies had written off.  His 
strategy was risky, but it paid off; he poured large amounts of capital 
into exploration, intensely drilled his properties, and produced more 
West Texas Light Crude than the multinationals had estimated as 
probable reserves.  

 
In 1985, Wilson’s need for investment capital outpaced the 

Houston banks’ appetite for risk associated with his concentrated 
bets and Wilson had no option but to take Red River public.  He 
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liquidated over eighty five percent of his ownership interest over a 
six-year series of underwritten offerings.  Red River went public, 
registering under the Exchange Act, with its common stock listed on 
the New York Stock Exchange.  Its new Midland, Texas office 
complex held an impressive infrastructure of administrative and 
operating personnel. Wilson served as board chairman and chief 
executive officer.  Red River later named Pamela Thompson as chief 
operating and environmental officer and Sandra Grimes as senior 
vice president and general counsel. 

 
Thompson and Grimes spent their early careers in large oil 

field service companies and were well schooled in regulatory 
compliance and public company disclosure requirements.  In 
Wilson’s view, Thompson obsessed over environmental compliance 
and Grimes over regulatory and litigation disclosure, much of which 
dealt with an endless “assault” by environmental “zealots” on Red 
River’s extraction activities. Wilson was frustrated both by the 
burdensome cost of regulatory compliance, as well as the 
implication that he and Red River were less than upstanding.  

 
By the late 1990s, Wilson began to worry about his 

company’s future.  Exploration prospects appeared dim.  Even for 
Wilson, there seemed to be a limit to the productivity of domestic 
fields, and he felt there was not that much left to pick over. 

 
During a trip to The North Texas College of Mines in Plano, 

Texas to receive an honorary doctorate, Wilson met a geology 
professor who expansively described a recently developed 
technology that facilitated the extraction of previously inaccessible 
oil and gas.  The major exploration companies were too preoccupied 
with drilling programs in Africa and the Arctic to seriously consider 
it, but the professor was certain hydraulic fracturing, or fracking, as 
it was known, could again make West Texas a rich source of oil and 
gas.  

 
The process was novel and, as Wilson sensed immediately, 

would be highly controversial.  It involved pulverizing shale rock 
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formations with millions of gallons of water, sand, and chemicals in 
order to bring oil and gas to the surface.  Vertical wells were drilled 
thousands of feet into the earth, through layers of sediment and the 
water table and, upon reaching the shale rock formation, 
horizontally over its expanse.  The shale rock was then battered with 
high-pressure fluids in order to fracture it and release the oil and gas, 
which would then flow out the head of the well.  In some cases, 
blasting was conducted prior to the injection process in order to 
make the shale rock more permeable.  This process created millions 
of gallons of wastewater, which would be stored in “closed 
container” tanks and then piped to treatment plants, where it would 
be treated and discharged through underground injection. 

 
Wilson’s environmental team expressed hesitation about the 

risks associated with drilling wells through West Texas aquifers.  
Despite the environmental team’s misgivings, Wilson went “all in” 
on evaluating fracking’s commercial feasibility and established new 
credit facilities with the Houston banks.  Drawing down heavily, he 
placed a singular bet by drilling in the West Texas Darnett Shale.  In 
2000, he brought in the first deep fracking wells, and by 2018 the 
United States was again the world’s largest oil producer.  Red River 
had a market capitalization of over one hundred and ten billion 
dollars.  

 
Wilson, now an influential executive of a large public 

company, maintained his distaste for compliance requirements and 
what he considered bureaucratic red tape.  This led to frequent head 
butting with Thompson and Grimes over the tone of public 
disclosure documents.  Fracking brought with it environmental 
concerns related to air pollution, ground water and soil 
contamination, and destruction of rare species’ habitats.  
Environmental risks and events were addressed in annual and 
quarterly disclosure documents, which repeatedly emphasized that 
such events had never materially impacted Red River’s income or 
operations.  
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Over a two-month period in late 2017, Red River received 
phone calls from several university geology departments reporting 
low-level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale, an area of active 
Red River fracking.  Red River’s environmental compliance team 
was unconcerned by the low-level activity and the unlikely event 
that it was attributable to fracking, so these reports were neither 
thoroughly investigated nor disclosed.  In the environmental team’s 
view, the low-level seismic activity was more likely to be caused by 
the deep discharge of massive amounts of wastewater than by 
fracking activity.  Like fracking sites, oil wells also produce and 
dispose of wastewater, so the team felt comfortable that the activity 
was not related to fracking.  An email exchange in December 2017 
indicated that Thompson and Grimes thought the calls did not rise 
to a level requiring disclosure, and certainly did not warrant a 
suspension of fracking in order to investigate the phenomena. 

 
At the same time, Wilson was engaged in discussions with 

his engineering team about Red River’s toxic wastewater storage 
facilities.  While the engineers believed the system to be structurally 
sound, they expressed concern that it had come close to reaching 
capacity on a number of occasions and suggested that Red River add 
additional capacity.  Wilson felt their concerns were overstated and 
decided that he would expand the wastewater storage facilities only 
if he expanded operations. 

 
In an email to Thompson and Grimes in January 2018, 

Wilson explained his view that Red River’s environmental 
disclosures focused too much on minor environmental mishaps 
including seepage of toxic chemicals into groundwater and 
methane-related air pollution.  He believed these disclosures were 
unbalanced and gave the impression that Red River was not a good 
corporate citizen.  Wilson also complained that corporate 
procedures requiring his positive environmental statements be 
cleared with both Thompson and Grimes amounted to muzzling his 
efforts to paint a balanced and realistic picture of Red River’s 
operations. 
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Wilson frequently attended talks on topics related to oil and 
gas production at Midland’s Petroleum Club.  At a talk on February 
2, 2018, a gas exploration company senior vice president and 
general counsel expressed a measured view toward environmental 
disclosure requirements.  She explained that she saw little risk of 
Section 10(b) exposure in generalized statements about a company’s 
commitment to compliance and its efforts to protect the 
environment.  Additionally, she took a liberal view on expressing 
opinions regarding compliance and environmental preparedness as 
long as such statements of opinion did not include factual assertions 
and did not omit relevant background or context.  

 
Wilson was encouraged by these statements and told 

Thompson and Grimes that a more positive tone was needed for both 
Red River’s public statements and disclosure documents.  Red 
River’s commitment to environmental compliance, its dedication of 
resources to this effort, and its views on the adequacy of steps taken 
to protect the environment were all to be clearly and repeatedly 
stated.  

 
Red River’s disclosure documents were revised to 

emphasize its focus on environmental compliance and safe 
practices.  The March 1, 2018 Annual Report and Form 10-K stated, 
“[t]here is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling activity 
continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the 
environment and preventing or remediating any damage resulting 
from an environmental occurrence,” and “[o]ur commitment to 
protecting the environment is unwavering and constant.”  They 
further stated that the company invested in “the latest technology in 
order to minimize surface water or soil contamination,” and that this 
investment differentiated Red River from its competitors.  They 
continued that Red River “conduct[s] frequent environmental 
practices reviews to assure our commitment to environmental best 
practices and devote[s] our most talented personnel and a substantial 
budget to ensuring protection of the environment.”  They concluded 
by noting that the fracking process “involves no serious 
environmental issues not associated with conventional drilling.” 
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In early May, Red River again received calls from geology 
departments reporting increased low-level seismic activity in the 
Eagle Ford Shale.  Thompson, who had heard scattered anecdotal 
reports of low-level seismic activity attributable to fracking in South 
Dakota, was concerned.  She met with Grimes and Wilson to decide 
how to handle the report.  After considerable thought, they decided 
the report did not warrant a potentially market roiling disclosure, but 
rather that an investigation would be undertaken in conjunction with 
the company’s upcoming environmental practices review in July.  
Thompson made a note to identify a prominent university geologist 
to conduct the investigation.  

 
Emboldened by the opinion regarding environmental 

disclosure requirements shared at the Midland Petroleum Club and 
unconcerned by the reports about seismic activity, Wilson began to 
express opinions about previously off-limits topics.  He 
spontaneously spoke his mind in meetings with major institutional 
investors, securities analysts, and industry groups.  At a May 15, 
2018 conference of oil and gas securities analysts he stated, “I think 
we have the tightest environmental practices in the West Texas oil 
patch” and “[c]andidly, I honestly believe a major environmental 
event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property.  
We just pay too much attention for that to happen.”  He felt 
confident he understood what he could and could not say and did 
not pre-clear his statements with Grimes or Thompson. 

 
On May 28, 2018, Red River received more calls regarding 

frequent low-level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale.  
Although aware of Wilson’s aggressive statements at the investor 
conference, Thompson and Grimes again postponed a decision on 
disclosure until after the upcoming environmental review. 

 
On June 1, 2018, Red River filed a Form 10-Q announcing 

the company’s financial and operating results for the quarter.  The 
10-Q listed among Red River’s Risk Factors the possibility that its 
“operations could be subject to disruption by natural disasters 
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beyond our control,” including “severe storms, fires, earthquakes, 
civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.” 

 
On June 3, 2018, the TRSF purchased Red River shares for 

$27 million on the New York Stock Exchange.  On June 7, 2018, 
the FMRF purchased Red River shares for $31 million on the New 
York Stock Exchange. 

 
On June 10, 2018, a series of mid-level seismic shocks 

rocked the Eagle Ford Shale, destroying the integrity of Red River’s 
toxic wastewater storage site.  In an environmental disaster that 
made international news, millions of gallons of wastewater 
infiltrated the West Texas groundwater and seeped into the regional 
aquifers.  

 
Red River’s common stock price plummeted immediately 

from one hundred twenty-six dollars before the disaster to ninety-
four dollars and fifty cents by the market’s close on June 10, 2018. 

 
On August 1, 2018, investigations by federal and state 

environmental agencies revealed that Red River had been using 
excessive amounts of explosives to condition the shale rock for the 
injection process.  The reports were inconclusive as to whether 
blasting had contributed to the seismic activity, although all 
concurred the fracking process was the proximate cause of the 
wastewater escaping the storage site.  The geologist retained by 
Thompson concurred in that conclusion.  The reports also concluded 
that Red River’s wastewater storage tanks were filled beyond 
recommended capacity. 

 
B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY  

 
On August 10, 2018, the TRSF and the FMRF (collectively, 

the “Appellants”), filed a putative class action on behalf of all 
purchasers of the common stock of Red River between March 2, 
2018 and August 2, 2018 (the “Class Period”) against Red River and 
Wilson (collectively, the “Appellees”) in the District of Fordham.  
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The complaint asserted a securities fraud claim against Red River 
under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and 
Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 
(collectively, “Section 10(b)”).  In addition, the complaint asserted 
a control person liability claim against Wilson under Section 20(a) 
of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). 

 
The complaint stated that Red River made materially 

misleading statements by touting the extent of its commitment to 
environmental safety and their environmental protection measures, 
while in fact using excessive blasting in their fracking process, 
disregarding environmental risks, and adopting inadequate 
procedures to prevent an environmental disaster.  Appellants 
identified four categories of false or misleading statements:  (1) the 
statements contained in its March 1, 2018 Form 10-K expressing 
Red River’s commitment to environmental protection (the 
“Commitment Statements”); (2) the statements contained in its 
March 1, 2018 Form 10-K describing Red River’s environmental 
practices (the “Practices Statements”); (3) Wilson’s statements 
regarding the safety of Red River’s practices at the May 15, 2018 
investor conference (the “Wilson Statements”); and (4) the 
statements describing the risks associated with fracking contained 
in the March 1, 2018 Form 10-K and the statements contained in the 
Risk Factors section of the June 1, 2018 Form 10-Q (the “Risk 
Statements”).1  Appellants further alleged that Wilson had sufficient 
control over Red River’s actions through his position as CEO to 
render him liable for these misstatements as a control person under 
Section 20(a). 

 
Appellants sought $70 million in compensatory damages 

and $140 million in punitive damages from Appellees in connection 
with Appellants’ purchase of Red River stock during the class period 
in reliance on allegedly false and misleading statements and 
omissions contained in the March 1, 2018 and June 1, 2018 

                                                
1 See Appendix A, Statement Chart.  Hereinafter, the challenged statements will 
be referred to by their statement number in the Statement Chart (e.g., “Stmt. 1”).  
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disclosure documents, as well as Wilson’s statements at the May 15, 
2018 investor conference. 

 
On September 10, 2018, Appellees filed a Rule 12(b)(6) 

motion to dismiss the action for failure to state a claim upon which 
relief can be granted.  In their motion, Appellees asserted that 
Appellants’ complaint failed to identify actionable misstatements of 
material fact and further that Appellants did not allege sufficient 
facts to establish scienter.  Additionally, Appellees moved to 
dismiss the Section 20(a) claim for two reasons.  First, Appellees 
argued that because Appellants had failed to adequately plead a 
primary violation against Red River, the Section 20(a) claim 
necessarily failed.  Second, Appellees argued that even if Appellants 
adequately alleged the primary violation against Red River, 
Appellants had failed to plead Wilson’s culpable participation. 

 
On October 9, 2018, the District Court granted the motion to 

dismiss both claims.  The District Court dismissed Appellants’ 
Section 10(b) claim against Red River because Appellants had failed 
to identify materially misleading statements and to allege scienter in 
the manner required by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act 
of 1995 (“PSLRA”).  With respect to the Section 20(a) control 
person liability claim against Wilson, the District Court found that 
Appellants’ failure to adequately allege a primary violation of 
Section 10(b) against Red River necessitated the dismissal of the 
Section 20(a) claim.  Further, the District Court found that, putting 
aside the primary violation issue, Appellants failed to plead 
Wilson’s culpable participation with particularity.  Accordingly, the 
District Court dismissed the Section 10(b) claim against Red River 
and the Section 20(a) claim against Wilson. 

 
Appellants timely filed this appeal, arguing that the District 

Court erred in finding that the challenged statements were not 
materially misleading as a matter of law and that the complaint did 
not plead sufficient facts to give rise to a strong inference of scienter.  
Further, Appellants argue that the District Court erred in dismissing 
the Section 20(a) claim against Wilson because Appellants had 
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successfully pleaded a primary violation against Red River and were 
not required to plead Wilson’s culpable participation in order to state 
a claim under Section 20(a). 

 
C. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION  

 
The District Court had jurisdiction over this action pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 
§ 78aa.  This Court has jurisdiction over the appeal pursuant to 28 
U.S.C. § 1291.  

 
D. STANDARD OF REVIEW  

 
We review de novo the District Court’s grant of a motion to 

dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 
accepting all allegations in the complaint as true and construing 
them in the light most favorable to Appellants.  Zucco Partners, LLC 
v. Digimarc Corp., 552 F.3d 981, 989 (9th Cir. 2009).  We must 
determine whether the facts alleged support a claim that is plausible 
on its face and allow the court to “draw the reasonable inference that 
the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  Ashcroft v. 
Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 
550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007)).  

 
II. ACTIONABLE STATEMENTS 

 
The first issue before this Court is whether Appellants 

adequately pleaded actionable material misstatements by Red River 
under Section 10(b).  The District Court articulated several grounds 
for its finding that Appellants did not allege actionable 
misstatements of material fact as a matter of law.  Additionally, the 
District Court found that even if Appellants had adequately alleged 
materially misleading statements, Appellants had failed to plead 
scienter in the manner required by the PSLRA. 

 
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act declares it unlawful to 

“use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any 
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security . . . any manipulative device or contrivance in contravention 
of [the] rules and regulations” prescribed by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  SEC Rule 10b-5, in turn, makes it 
unlawful to “make any untrue statement of material fact or omit to 
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, 
in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading.”  17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. 

   
In order to state an actionable Section 10(b) claim, a plaintiff 

must allege that the defendant (1) made material misrepresentations 
or omissions; (2) with scienter; (3) in connection with the purchase 
or sale of a security; (4) upon which the plaintiff relied; (5) causing 
economic loss as a result of the material misrepresentation.  See 
Dura Pharmaceuticals v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341–42 (2005).  
Because claims under Section 10(b) involve allegations of fraud, 
both Rule 9 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the PSLRA 
require plaintiffs to specify the particular circumstances constituting 
fraud, including the defendants’ state of mind.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b); 
15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1).  At issue in this case are the material 
misrepresentation and scienter elements. 

 
For the reasons set forth below, we reverse the decision of 

the District Court and find that Appellants adequately alleged 
materially misleading statements and properly pleaded scienter. 

 
A. MATERIALLY MISLEADING STATEMENTS 

 
An actionable misrepresentation must be “misleading as to a 

material fact.”  Matrixx Initiatives v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 38 
(2011).  A statement is misleading under Section 10(b) when it 
misrepresents a material fact or omits a material fact necessary to 
make the statement, in the context in which it was made, not 
misleading.  17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5; see also In re Morgan Stanley 
Info. Fund Sec. Litig., 592 F.3d 347, 366 (a company’s 
representations “must be complete and accurate”).   
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Courts have identified several categories of statements 
which cannot form the basis of a Section 10(b) violation.  The 
District Court identified two such grounds upon which the 
statements challenged in Appellants’ complaint were inactionable 
under Section 10(b) as a matter of law.  The District Court dismissed 
the claims relating to Stmts. 2–4 on the ground that Appellants 
alleged mere corporate mismanagement.  In addition, the District 
Court dismissed the claims relating to Stmts. 1, 2, and 4–8 on the 
ground that these statements were inactionable puffery. 

 
i. CORPORATE MISMANAGEMENT 

 
The District Court dismissed the claims relating to Stmts.  

2–4 after finding that the allegations amounted only to corporate 
mismanagement, which the Supreme Court has held inactionable.  
Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462 (1977).  In Santa 
Fe, the Supreme Court dismissed a Section 10(b) claim by minority 
shareholders in a Delaware short-form merger who claimed that the 
merger transaction was unfair.  430 U.S. at 467.  The Court 
explained that federal securities laws could not be invoked to 
regulate “internal corporate mismanagement” and that Section 10(b) 
and Rule 10b-5 should not be expanded to “cover the corporate 
universe.”  Id. at 479–80 (internal citations omitted). 

 
Since Santa Fe, courts have articulated the line between 

allegations actionable under Section 10(b) and allegations of mere 
corporate mismanagement in a variety of ways.  See, e.g., Suez 
Equity Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 
(2d Cir. 2001) (finding that deliberate misrepresentations are 
actionable under federal securities laws, but “garden variety state 
law claims of breach of fiduciary duty” are not); Panter v. Marshall 
Field & Co., 646 F.2d 271, 289 (7th Cir. 1981) (claims are barred 
under Santa Fe if the “central thrust” arises from acts of corporate 
mismanagement).  However, claims will not be dismissed on the 
ground that they allege mere mismanagement if they adequately 
allege that, in choosing to speak, the defendant violated its 
obligation not to mislead.  See, e.g., In re MobileMedia Sec. Litig., 
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28 F. Supp. 2d 901, 927 (D.N.J. 1998).  The fact that the alleged 
conduct could be construed as mismanagement will not necessarily 
defeat a claim under federal securities law; allegations involving 
deception related to mismanagement may be actionable under 
Section 10(b).  In re Donna Karan Int’l Sec. Litig., No. 97-CV-2011, 
1998 WL 637547, at *10 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 1998); see also 
Freudenberg v. E*Trade Fin. Corp., 712 F. Supp. 2d 171, 193 
(S.D.N.Y. 2010). 

 
Appellants argue that the District Court erred in holding that 

the “central thrust” of Appellants’ claim as it relates to Stmts. 2–4 
arose from inactionable corporate mismanagement.  We agree.  
Appellants do not simply allege that Red River’s stock price 
plummeted due to mismanagement that resulted in an environmental 
disaster, but that Red River made misleading statements regarding 
the safety of its operations. 

 
When Red River made public statements about its 

environmental commitments and practices, those statements were 
required to be complete and accurate.  In re Morgan Stanley Info. 
Fund Sec. Litig., 592 F.3d 347, 366 (2d Cir. 2010).  Appellants 
allege specific facts that, if proven, could make Stmts. 2–4 
misleading.  The challenged statements emphasize that Red River’s 
highest priority was “ensuring that [its] drilling activity continues to 
be conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the 
environment and preventing or remediating damage resulting from 
an environmental occurrence” (Stmt. 2), that Red River frequently 
reviewed its environmental practices to “ensure protection of the 
environment” (Stmt. 3), and that Red River used “the latest 
technology” to “minimize surface water or soil contamination” 
(Stmt. 4). 

 
In support of their claim that these statements are 

misleading, Appellants point to Red River’s excessive blasting in its 
fracking operations and the disregard of issues with wastewater 
storage capacity.  Additionally, Appellants allege that Red River 
received three reports of seismic activity but failed to take any 
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precautions to mitigate the potentially serious environmental 
consequences.  Appellants argue that these actions demonstrate a 
lack of commitment to environmental safety that contradicts Red 
River’s statements.  While these claims may be related to 
mismanagement, they go further by alleging shareholder deception.  
Appellants’ allegations that Red River continuously touted its 
commitment to the environment while engaging in practices that 
created specific environmental risks are thus sufficient to state a 
claim under Section 10(b). 

 
ii. INACTIONABLE PUFFERY 

 
 The District Court further found that Stmts. 1, 2, and 4–8 

were vague statements of corporate optimism upon which no 
reasonable shareholder could have relied.  

 
To be actionable under Section 10(b), an alleged 

misstatement must be materially misleading or demonstrably false.  
See Ong v. Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., 294 F. Supp. 3d 199, 232 
(S.D.N.Y. 2018).  Corporate statements regarding “reputation, 
integrity, and compliance with ethical norms” are the “quintessential 
examples of . . . inactionable puffery” that are too vague or general 
to be considered materially misleading.  In re Banco Bradesco S.A. 
Sec. Litig., 277 F. Supp. 3d 600, 647 (S.D.N.Y. 2017) (internal 
quotations omitted). 

 
Whether optimistic or aspirational statements are actionable 

under Section 10(b) often depends on the breadth or specificity of 
the challenged statements and the context in which the statements 
are made.  See Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 315 (2d Cir. 2000); 
Lopez v. Ctpartners Exec. Search Inc., 173 F. Supp. 3d 12, 28 
(S.D.N.Y. 2016).  While statements of “general corporate 
optimism” are rarely actionable, a company’s statements describing 
business practices may be actionable when they amount to a 
guarantee to investors or when the speaker does not actually hold 
the views espoused.  IBEW Local Union No. 58 Pension Tr. Fund & 
Annuity Fund v. Royal Bank of Scotland Grp., PLC, 783 F.3d 383, 
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392 (2d Cir. 2015); ECA, Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Tr. Fund 
of Chicago v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187, 206 (2d Cir. 
2009).  Similarly, commitment statements may be considered 
actionable when they purport to “recognize the company’s past 
achievements and current goals” or tie those commitments to the 
company’s success.  In re Massey Energy Co. Sec. Litig., 883 F. 
Supp. 2d 597, 618 (S.D. W. Va. 2012).  Such statements are also 
actionable when they misrepresent existing facts.  Novak, 216 F. 3d 
at 315.  

 
Courts should be cautious in finding a statement to be 

inactionable puffery as a matter of law at the motion to dismiss 
stage, as the inquiry is fact-intensive and better left to a jury.  
Bricklayers & Masons Local Union No. 5 Ohio Pension Fund v. 
Transocean Ltd., 866 F. Supp. 2d 223, 241 (S.D.N.Y. 2012).  A 
motion to dismiss on the ground that challenged statements are 
puffery should be granted only if the statements are “so obviously 
unimportant to a reasonable investor that reasonable minds could 
not differ on the question of their unimportance.”  Mulligan v. Impax 
Laboratories, Inc., 36 F. Supp. 3d 942, 967 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (citing 
In re Ford Motor Co. Sec. Litig., 381 F. 3d 563, 570 (6th Cir. 2004)).   

 
We agree with the District Court that certain challenged 

statements are mere puffery and thus inactionable under Section 
10(b).  As a matter of law, we find that Stmt. 1 (“Our commitment 
to protecting the environment is unwavering and constant.”) is not 
materially misleading, as the statement is simply too general for a 
reasonable investor to have relied upon it.  The claim relating to 
Stmt. 6 (“I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the 
West Texas oil patch.”) fails for much the same reason.  This 
statement is prototypical of the general corporate optimism that 
shareholders expect from a CEO, whose job entails public 
promotion of the company.  Moreover, unlike the statements 
discussed below, these statements neither link Red River’s 
environmental commitments to its success as a company, nor do 
they describe specific business practices.  See Lopez, 173 F. Supp. 
3d at 28; Massey Energy Co., 883 F. Supp. 2d at 618.  As such, these 
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statements are inactionable under Section 10(b) and we affirm the 
District Court’s dismissal.  

 
However, with respect to Stmts. 2, 4, 5, 7, and 8, as set forth 

below, we find that Appellants pleaded sufficient facts to render 
these statements actionable under Section 10(b).   

 
The District Court found that Stmt. 2 (“no higher priority” 

than preventing environmental damage) and Stmt. 4 (Red River’s 
“investment in the latest technology . . . differentiates us from our 
competitors” and minimizes water contamination) were 
inactionable general statements of corporate optimism.  Appellants 
claim that the statements are misleading because they purport to 
recognize environmental protection as Red River’s highest priority 
when, in fact, its management was disregarding the obvious 
environmental risks posed by reports of seismic activity, wastewater 
storage capacity issues, and the excessive use of explosives during 
the fracking process.  Appellants also note that Red River 
emphasized the fact that a major environmental event had never 
impacted its income or operations and that its investments in 
technology differentiated the company from its competitors, thereby 
linking Red River’s environmental commitments and practices to its 
success.   

 
In sum, Appellants challenge these statements as misleading 

because they were made while Red River consciously disregarded 
environmental risks and tied the company’s environmental 
commitments to its success.  These contentions elevate the 
challenged statements beyond mere puffery and suffice to form the 
basis of a Section 10(b) claim.  In re Massey, 883 F. Supp. 2d at 618. 

 
Appellants also argue that Stmt. 5 (“Fracking involves no 

serious environmental issues not associated with conventional 
drilling.”) and Stmt. 8 (“Our operations could be subject to 
disruption by natural disasters beyond our control, including . . . 
severe storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.”) 
are more than vague, inactionable statements.  Specifically, 
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Appellants claim that these statements are sufficiently definite to 
have engendered shareholder reliance and that they were misleading 
because they omitted material information related to risks facing 
Red River – i.e., numerous reports of seismic activity.  See In re 
Morgan Stanley Info. Fund, 592 F.3d at 366.   

 
It is not enough that the statements describing Red River’s 

risk factors were true in isolation.  Statements remain actionable 
under Section 10(b) if they omit relevant information upon which a 
reasonable shareholder would rely in making investment decisions.  
Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231–32 (1988).  In the context of 
fracking, a notoriously risky industry, it is entirely reasonable that 
investors would place great importance on statements regarding 
potential environmental risks.  We agree with Appellants that these 
statements, which purport to describe these risks while omitting 
relevant and material information, could plausibly mislead a 
reasonable shareholder.  Therefore, we reverse the District Court’s 
determination that these claims are inactionable puffery under 
Section 10(b) as a matter of law. 

 
Finally, we reverse the District Court’s dismissal of the 

claim relating to Stmt. 7 (“I honestly believe a major environmental 
event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property.  
We just pay too much attention for that to happen.”).   Appellants’ 
complaint adequately pleads that this statement was materially 
misleading.  

 
Stmt. 7 could be interpreted by a reasonable investor as a 

guarantee that Red River’s operations were monitored and 
conducted in a manner that ensured any non-negligible risk of 
environmental disaster would be detected and addressed.  Further, 
the statement suggests that Wilson knew of no material fact 
indicating that an environmental disaster on Red River’s property 
was more than a negligible possibility.  The complaint alleges, 
however, that Red River received a number of reports of seismic 
activity in the Eagle Ford Shale.  According to the complaint, 
Wilson was aware of at least one of those reports and Red River’s 
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engineering team had alerted Wilson to capacity issues with the 
wastewater storage facilities prior to his statement at the investor 
conference.  These allegations are sufficient to plead that the 
statement could be interpreted by a reasonable investor as a 
guarantee of effective and responsive monitoring that was 
contradicted by facts known to Red River at the time the statement 
was made.  See IBEW Local Union No. 58 Pension Tr. Fund & 
Annuity Fund, 783 F.3d at 392.  Accordingly, we reverse the District 
Court’s dismissal of the claim related to this statement on the ground 
that it is inactionable puffery. 

 
B. SCIENTER  

 
In addition to identifying materially misleading statements, 

a Section 10(b) claim must allege that the defendant acted with 
scienter.  The PSLRA requires that a complaint “state with 
particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that a defendant 
acted with the required state of mind.”  15 U.S.C. §78(u)-4(b)(2).  
The “required state of mind” in a Section 10(b) claim is “an intent 
to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, or severe recklessness.”2  
Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 251 (5th Cir. 2009) 
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  The particularized 
pleading standards require plaintiffs to “indicate why the alleged 
misstatements were false when made.”  Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 
F.3d 867, 874 (8th Cir. 2010). 

 
Appellants contend that they pleaded sufficient facts to give 

rise to a strong inference that Red River acted with severe 
recklessness.3  Severe recklessness does not refer merely to extreme 
                                                
2 The Supreme Court has not yet decided whether allegations of recklessness 
suffice to satisfy the scienter requirement under Section 10(b).  Matrixx, 563 
U.S. at 48.  However, we note that we have held in this Circuit, consistently with 
every other circuit to consider the question, that recklessness may satisfy the 
element of scienter.   
3 This Circuit has adopted the collective view of corporate scienter and has held 
that plaintiffs may satisfy their pleading burden by alleging facts that create a 
strong inference of corporate scienter without naming individuals directly 
responsible for the fraud as defendants.  Hansen v. Marcus, 619 F.4th 57, 92 
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or inexcusable negligence, but rather requires “an extreme departure 
from the standard of ordinary care” that presents a danger of 
misleading shareholders “that is either known to the defendant or is 
so obvious that the defendant must have been aware of it.”  Adams 
v. Baker Hughes Inc., 292 F.3d 424, 430 (5th Cir. 2002) (internal 
quotation marks and citation omitted).  Allegations that defendants 
turned a blind eye to improper conduct or recklessly ignored the 
falsity of their statements in light of contrary reports can give rise to 
a strong inference of scienter under Section 10(b).  See, e.g., In re 
VeriFone Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litig., 704 F.3d 694, 708 (9th Cir. 
2012); Frank v. Dana Corp., 646 F.3d 954, 961 (6th Cir. 2011).  
Moreover, “an egregious refusal to see the obvious, or investigate 
the doubtful, may in some cases give rise to an inference of . . . 
recklessness.”  Novak, 216 F.3d at 308. 

 
In determining whether a complaint adequately pleads 

scienter, the court must assume the allegations are true and “assess 
all the allegations holistically.”  Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & 
Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 326 (2007).  To give rise to a “strong 
inference” of scienter, the facts pleaded must create a “cogent” 
inference of scienter that is “at least as compelling as any opposing 
inference one could draw from the facts alleged.”  Id. at 324; see 
also ACA Fin. Guar. Corp. v. Advest, Inc., 512 F.3d 46, 59 (1st Cir. 
2008) (“Tellabs now awards the draw to the plaintiff.”).  

 
There is no dispute that certain statements relating to Red 

River’s environmental practices ultimately proved to be false.  The 
relevant question, however, is whether Appellants adequately 
alleged that these statements were made with severe recklessness 
both to their accuracy and to the risk that these statements could 
mislead shareholders.   

 

                                                
(14th Cir. 2015); see also Makor Issues & Rights v. Tellabs, 513 F.3d 702, 710 
(7th Cir. 2008).  Despite disagreement within the circuits, neither party 
challenged this approach in the District Court.  Therefore, the issue has not been 
preserved for appeal. 
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Viewing Appellants’ allegations holistically, we find that the 
complaint adequately pleads scienter.  Appellants allege that, prior 
to filing disclosure documents on March 1, 2018 and June 1, 2018, 
Red River received reports of low-level seismic activity in the Eagle 
Ford Shale and was aware of anecdotal reports suggesting that 
fracking contributed to this activity.  Additionally, Appellants allege 
that Wilson was aware of engineers’ concerns about wastewater 
storage capacity at the Eagle Ford Shale site.   

 
These allegations, if true, may not suffice to establish direct 

knowledge, but they sufficiently allege that Red River recklessly 
disregarded the falsity of the statements and the risk that the 
statements would mislead shareholders.  Appellants allege that Red 
River received reports of seismic activity and capacity issues with 
the wastewater storage facilities before making many of the 
challenged statements and that Red River was engaged in blasting 
practices that management reasonably should have known were 
excessive.  This suggests that Red River had access to information 
that tended to undermine the accuracy of the statements regarding 
Red River’s exacting environmental standards and the supposedly 
minimal risk of an environmental event.  Moreover, the allegations 
further suggest that Red River was aware of the impact the 
statements would have on the market.  Indeed, Appellants allege that 
Wilson, Thompson, and Grimes made the decision not to disclose 
the reports of seismic activity at least in part to avoid any impact on 
Red River’s stock price. 

 
Red River argues that allegations regarding reports of 

seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale and Wilson’s conversations 
with his engineering team at most suggest that Red River and its 
executives mishandled this information.  According to Red River, 
these allegations plead no more than negligence.  While we do find 
this inference plausible, we do not find it any more plausible than 
the inference that Appellants would have us draw – that Red River 
and its management recklessly disregarded the falsity of the 
challenged statements and the risk that these statements could 
mislead shareholders. 
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  Accordingly, we find that Appellants adequately pleaded 
that the challenged statements were made with severe recklessness 
and reverse the District Court’s dismissal on the ground that 
Appellants did not adequately allege scienter. 

 
III. CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY 

 
The second issue before this Court is whether Appellants 

were required to plead Wilson’s culpable participation in the 
primary violation as an element of a prima facie case for control 
person liability under Section 20(a).  Appellants urge that we reverse 
the District Court’s holding that, in addition to alleging that an 
individual defendant held a position of control within the violating 
company, a plaintiff alleging a violation of Section 20(a) must also 
allege that the individual engaged in culpable conduct in connection 
with the underlying violation.  

 
 Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act provides:  
 

“Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls 
any person liable under any provision of this chapter 
or of any rule or regulation thereunder shall also be 
liable jointly and severally with and to the same 
extent as such controlled person to any person to 
whom such controlled person is liable, unless the 
controlling person acted in good faith and did not 
directly or indirectly induce the act or acts 
constituting the violation or cause of action.”   
 

15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).  The undisputed elements of a prima facie case 
of Section 20(a) liability are (1) a primary violation by a controlled 
person and (2) control of the primary violator by the defendant.  See, 
e.g., Lustgraaf, 619 F.3d 867 at 873–74; ATSI Comm., Inc. v. Shaar 
Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 108 (2d Cir. 2007).   

 
In the context of Section 20(a), “control” means “the power 

to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a 
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person [or corporation], whether through ownership of voting 
securities, by contract, or otherwise.”  17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-2.  
Corporate officers are “presumed to possess the ability to control the 
actions of their employees” and officers who sign SEC disclosure 
documents are ordinarily presumed to have the power to control the 
actions of those who draft those documents.  City of Westland Police 
& Fire Ret. Sys. v. MetLife, Inc., 928 F. Supp. 2d 705, 721 (S.D.N.Y. 
2013).  Thus, allegations that a defendant signed disclosure 
documents are sufficient to allege that the defendant had the ability 
to control those who prepared the documents.  Id. 

 
Because we find that Appellants adequately alleged a 

Section 10(b) violation by Red River, Appellants have sufficiently 
alleged a primary violation by a controlled person, as required by 
Section 20(a).  Moreover, Appellants pleaded that Wilson was the 
chief executive officer of Red River and that he signed Red River’s 
disclosure statements.  This suffices to establish Wilson’s control 
over Red River and its employees, including those who prepared the 
disclosure documents.  Id.  Thus, we find that Appellants adequately 
alleged a primary violation and Wilson’s status as a control person.  
The adequacy of Appellants’ Section 20(a) claim now depends on 
whether the primary violation and control elements are the only 
prima facie elements of a Section 20(a) claim.   

 
In addition to the primary violation and control elements, the 

Second and Third Circuits require that plaintiffs plead the individual 
defendant’s “culpable participation” in the primary violation as a 
third element of a Section 20(a) claim.  See, e.g., Carpenters 
Pension Tr. Fund of St. Louis v. Barclays PLC, 750 F.3d 227, 236 
(2d Cir. 2014); Belmont v. MB Inv. Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 470, 484 
(3d Cir. 2013).  The majority of the remaining circuit courts, 
however, have rejected such a requirement.  See, e.g., Harrison v. 
Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 974 F.2d 873, 880 (7th Cir. 
1992); Hollinger v. Titan Capital Corp., 914 F.2d 1564, 1575 (9th 
Cir. 1990); Metge v. Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 631 (8th Cir. 1985).  
This Circuit has not yet considered this question. 
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Courts that adopt the culpable participation requirement do 
so under the theory that Congress adopted Section 20(a) with the 
intent to impose securities fraud liability only on individuals that 
meaningfully participated in the primary fraud.  See Lanza v. Drexel 
& Co., 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 1973).  These courts find that 
if such a requirement were not imposed, Section 20(a) would render 
directors and officers de facto insurers against false or misleading 
statements that they did not make.  Id.  Under this view, the 
“culpable participation” element is akin to scienter, as it “seem[s] to 
imply a culpable state of mind.”  In re Stone & Webster, Inc., Sec. 
Litig., 414 F.3d 187, 196 n.6 (1st Cir. 2005).  Therefore, these courts 
hold that the PSLRA’s heightened pleading requirements apply to 
Section 20(a) and that plaintiffs must plead facts giving rise to a 
strong inference of culpable participation. 

 
Other courts, however, find that a culpable participation 

requirement is inconsistent with the language of Section 20(a).  
These courts find that Section 20(a)’s imposition of liability on 
“[e]very person who . . . controls any person liable” for a primary 
violation demonstrates that liability under the statute hinges solely 
on the control relationship, without any requirement that plaintiffs 
plead culpable participation.  Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1572.  Thus, 
according to this view, a control person is liable under Section 20(a) 
unless he can establish a good faith defense.  Id.  In addition to being 
consistent with the language of the statute, these courts find that this 
approach is consistent with the purpose of Section 20(a), which was 
enacted to “expand, rather than restrict, the scope of liability under 
the securities laws.”  S.E.C. v. Mgmt. Dynamics, Inc., 515 F.2d 801, 
812 (2d Cir. 1975).  

 
Appellants argue that the District Court erred in dismissing 

the Section 20(a) claim.  Specifically, Appellants urge us to reverse 
the District Court’s holding that culpable participation is a required 
element under Section 20(a).  We conclude, as a matter of first 
impression in this Circuit, that plaintiffs are not required to plead 
culpable participation in order to state a legally sufficient claim 
under Section 20(a). 
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In reaching this conclusion, we start with the text of Section 
20(a).  The term “culpable participation” originated in the Second 
Circuit and appears nowhere in the statute.  See Lanza v. Drexel & 
Co., 479 F.2d 1277 (2d Cir. 1973).  Rather, Section 20(a) imposes 
liability on a control person for the primary violation, unless that 
person acted in good faith.  15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).   

 
The clearest reading of this language is that the defendant 

bears the burden of establishing good faith and that this requirement 
is more properly viewed as an affirmative defense to be raised by 
the defendant than as an element that plaintiffs are required to plead.  
This mandates the conclusion that Section 20(a) does not contain 
any sort of scienter requirement because, absent a showing that the 
defendant acted in good faith, liability attaches upon a 
demonstration of control.  Accord In re Initial Public Offering Sec. 
Litig., 241 F. Supp. 2d 281, 393 (S.D.N.Y. 2013).  In other words, a 
plaintiff could succeed on a Section 20(a) claim without making any 
showing regarding the defendant’s state of mind, so long as the 
defendant does not raise a good faith defense.  Therefore, because 
the statute lacks a scienter element, Appellants were not required to 
plead Wilson’s culpable participation with the particularity required 
by the PSLRA. 

 
This conclusion respects the meaningful difference between 

prima facie liability on the basis of pleadings and ultimate liability 
on the basis of proof.  If culpable participation were treated as an 
element, a defendant would be required to prove good faith after a 
plaintiff has pleaded and proven culpable participation – an 
“illogical result” that renders the good faith clause of the statute 
meaningless.  In re Parmalat Sec. Litig., 375 F. Supp. 2d 278, 308 
n.200 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (citation omitted).  While a defendant’s 
ultimate liability may depend on the plaintiff’s ability to show that 
the defendant did not act in good faith, the defendant’s prima facie 
liability hinges on control alone. 

 
For these reasons, we find that Section 20(a) does not require 

plaintiffs to allege the defendant’s culpable participation in the 
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primary violation.  Accordingly, we reverse the District Court’s 
decision and find that Appellants adequately stated a claim against 
Wilson under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. 

 
IV.   CONCLUSION  

 
For the foregoing reasons, we reverse the decision of the 

District Court for the District of Fordham. 
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MCDONNELL-LEWIS, Circuit Judge, dissenting:  
 

I respectfully dissent from the majority’s ruling on both 
issues.  I would affirm the District Court’s decision that Appellants 
failed to identify materially misleading statements and to adequately 
allege scienter.  Additionally, I would affirm the District Court in 
dismissing Appellants’ Section 20(a) claim on the ground that 
Appellants failed to allege Wilson’s culpable participation in the 
primary Section 10(b) violation.  

 
I. ACTIONABLE STATEMENTS  

 
The majority’s finding that Appellants adequately identified 

materially misleading statements overlooks the true nature of the 
allegations.  I believe the District Court was correct in finding that 
Appellants’ claims ultimately involve allegations of corporate 
mismanagement made with hindsight and inactionable puffery and 
would therefore affirm the District Court’s dismissal for failure to 
state a claim.  Moreover, I would affirm the District Court’s finding 
that Appellants failed to adequately allege scienter. 

 
A. MATERIALLY MISLEADING STATEMENTS 

 
As the Supreme Court held in Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. 

Green, Section 10(b) does not reach conduct “which constitute[s] no 
more than internal corporate mismanagement.”  430 U.S. 462, 479–
80 (1977).  Accordingly, courts routinely dismiss allegations of 
inadequate procedures or incompetence by management as 
inactionable under Section 10(b).  See, e.g., In re Lululemon Sec. 
Litig., 14 F. Supp. 3d 553, 574 (S.D.N.Y. 2014); Cutsforth v. 
Renschler, 235 F. Supp. 2d 1216, 1242–44 (M.D. Fla. 2002).  
Securities laws simply do not provide a remedy where the “central 
thrust” of the conduct at issue is corporate mismanagement.  Panter 
v. Marshall Field & Co., 646 F.2d 271, 289 (7th Cir. 1981).  

 
“Fraud by hindsight” is similarly inactionable.  See Tellabs, 

Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, 551 U.S. 308, 320 (2007) (citing 
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Denny v. Barber, 576 F.2d 465, 470 (2d Cir. 1978) (Friendly, J.)).  
For a statement to be actionable, it must have been materially 
misleading at the time it was made.  In re MobileMedia Sec. Litig., 
28 F. Supp. 2d 901, 925 (D.N.J. 1998).  “Liability cannot be imposed 
on the basis of subsequent events.”  Id.  

 
Appellants claim that the Commitment and Practices 

statements were false or misleading because they were made while 
Appellees used excessive blasting in their fracking procedures, 
employed inadequate wastewater storage facilities, and decided 
against investigating geological reports of seismic activity in the 
Eagle Ford Shale.  In support of these allegations, Appellants point 
to the opinions of certain Red River engineers, speculative reports 
from geological experts, and the investigative reports conducted 
after the wastewater spill.   

 
None of the facts pleaded support Appellants’ allegations 

that Red River’s statements were misleading at the time they were 
made.  The fact that Red River faced certain geological and 
wastewater storage issues and may have made business decisions 
with which Appellants do not agree does not mean that statements 
describing Red River’s environmental commitments and practices 
were materially misleading.  Appellants merely second-guess 
decisions made by Red River’s management.  But Appellants, with 
the benefit of hindsight, have much more information than 
Appellees did at the time the challenged statements were made.  
Appellants have failed to plead any facts that, if true, would 
demonstrate that the challenged statements were materially 
misleading in light of information contemporaneously available to 
Red River and its management.   

 
In allowing Appellants’ claims relating to Stmts. 2–4 to 

proceed, the majority expands Section 10(b) liability well beyond 
its intended boundaries.  This result is inconsistent with the Supreme 
Court’s declaration that federal securities laws were not intended to 
create a federal cause of action for “a wide variety of corporate 
conduct traditionally left to state regulation.”  Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 
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478.  Appellants’ claims ultimately concern corporate 
mismanagement by Red River’s directors which simply is not 
actionable under federal securities laws.  For this reason, I would 
affirm the District Court’s dismissal of Appellants’ claims relating 
to Stmts. 2–4.  

 
I would also note that, to the extent the majority finds that 

these claims allege more than corporate mismanagement, I would 
find that all of the challenged statements constitute “puffery” that is 
inactionable under Section 10(b). 

 
A misstatement is materially misleading only if there is a 

“substantial likelihood that a reasonable shareholder would consider 
it important in deciding how to act.”  IBEW Local Union No. 58 
Pension Tr. Fund & Annuity Fund v. Royal Bank of Scotland Grp., 
PLC, 783 F.3d 383, 389 (2d Cir. 2015).  While the materiality 
inquiry is ordinarily fact-intensive, some statements are considered 
inactionable under Section 10(b) as a matter of law because they are 
“too general to cause a reasonable investor to rely upon them.”  
ECA, Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Tr. of Chicago v. JP Morgan 
Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187, 206 (2d Cir. 2009).  Statements of puffery, 
including general statements of corporate optimism and vague 
statements describing a company’s integrity and commitment to 
norms are the “quintessential examples” of statements found to be 
inactionable as a matter of law.  In re Banco Bradesco S.A. Sec. 
Litig., 277 F. Supp. 3d 600, 647 (S.D.N.Y. 2017).  

 
No reasonable investor would have relied on any of the 

challenged statements.  Indeed, the complaint failed to identify 
statements that supplied shareholders with any concrete, verifiable 
information.  At most, the statements refer to general commitments 
to the environment and efforts to comply with “best practices,” 
without any accompanying detail to describe the practices.  See, e.g., 
Stmts. 1 (“Our commitment to the environment is unwavering and 
constant.”); 2 (“no higher priority” than “preventing or remediating 
damage resulting from an environmental occurrence”); 3 
(describing efforts to “assure … commitment to environmental best 
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practices”); 6 (“I think we have the tightest environmental practices 
in the West Texas oil patch.”).  These statements are simply too 
vague to engender shareholder reliance. 

 
Moreover, none of the challenged statements could even 

arguably be viewed to have been stated as guarantees.  See ECA, 
Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Tr. of Chicago, 553 F.3d at 206.  
Even Stmt. 7 (“I honestly believe a major environmental event has 
about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property.”), which 
is the only statement that even remotely supports a reasonable 
argument that it is stated as a guarantee, is so clearly hyperbole that 
no reasonable investor could have interpreted it as a guarantee that 
Red River’s operations were invulnerable to environmental disaster.  
Accordingly, I would find that all of the challenged statements were 
inactionable as a matter of law. 

 
Finally, I am skeptical of Appellants’ contention that Stmts. 

5 and 8, which describe risks facing Red River, are misleading 
because they omitted scattered reports of seismic activity.  It is not 
clear to me that a reasonable investor would have wanted this 
information disclosed.  Indeed, “[s]ome information is of such 
dubious significance that insistence on its disclosure may 
accomplish more harm than good.”  TSC Industries, Inc. v. 
Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 448–49 (1976).  Here, Appellants 
seem to insist that Red River disclose all potentially adverse 
information as soon as management learns of it, regardless of how 
speculative, contingent, or unconfirmed the information may be.  
This is neither required by law nor is it beneficial to shareholders, 
who would be buried in an “avalanche” of unimportant information 
and may ultimately be harmed by resulting fluctuations in the 
company’s stock price.  See Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231–
32 (1988).  

 
Accordingly, I would affirm the District Court’s dismissal of 

Appellants’ Section 10(b) claim against Red River on the ground 
that the challenged statements were inactionable under Section 
10(b) as a matter of law. 
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B. SCIENTER  
 

I would further affirm the District Court’s dismissal on the 
ground that Appellants failed to adequately plead scienter in the 
manner required by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995 (“PSLRA”).  Appellants’ apparent basis for alleging scienter 
is their contention that Red River recklessly disregarded the 
potential that their statements were false in light of a handful of 
speculative reports received over the course of several months.  This 
contention fails to support an allegation of scienter for two reasons. 

 
First, it falls victim to the same hindsight bias that dooms 

Appellants in identifying actionable material misstatements.  The 
securities laws were not enacted to further punish companies after 
an unforeseen event negatively impacts their operations.  In re 
MobileMedia, 28 F. Supp. 2d at 925.  To succeed on a Section 10(b) 
claim, a plaintiff must adequately allege that the defendant acted 
with the intent to deceive shareholders or with severe recklessness 
as to the risk that the statements would mislead shareholders.  
Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 251 (5th Cir. 2009).  
Further, a plaintiff must plead with particularity why the statements 
were false when made; it is insufficient to point to a defendant’s 
statement “and then show[] in hindsight that the statement is false.”  
Lustgraaf, 619 F.3d at 874 (internal quotation marks and citations 
omitted).   

 
Appellants failed to plead particular facts showing that the 

challenged statements were false at the time they were made.  The 
failure to predict an environmental disaster of an enormous scale 
based on a few phone calls from geologists and a conversation with 
the engineering team at most gives rise to an inference that Red 
River negligently mishandled important information; it simply does 
not establish recklessness with respect to misleading shareholders, 
let alone an intent to deceive shareholders. 

 
 Second, Appellants’ allegations do not give rise to a 
sufficiently strong inference of scienter.  To adequately allege 
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scienter under the PSLRA, 15 U.S.C. §78(u)-4(b)(2), the facts 
pleaded must create a “cogent” inference of scienter that is “at least 
as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw from the 
facts alleged.”  Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324.  Even if these allegations 
could raise a somewhat plausible inference that Red River recklessly 
disregarded the possibility that their statements may mislead 
shareholders, this inference is nowhere near as strong as the 
competing inference that Red River simply did not believe that these 
reports rendered any of the statements misleading. 
 
 In conclusion, Appellants rely on hindsight allegations of 
corporate mismanagement as well as inactionable puffery.  This is 
insufficient to support claims that Red River made materially 
misleading statements under Section 10(b).  Moreover, Appellants 
failed to plead sufficient facts giving rise to a strong inference of 
scienter, as required by the PSLRA.  Therefore, I would find that 
Appellants failed to state an actionable claim under Section 10(b).  
 

II.  CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY 
 

In reversing the District Court’s dismissal of Appellants’ 
Section 20(a) claim, the majority adopts the view that Section 20(a) 
does not contain a culpable participation element.  I believe the 
majority’s approach disregards Congress’s intent to restrict control 
person liability for Section 10(b) violations to those with some 
degree of knowledge or culpable conduct.  Therefore, I would affirm 
the District Court’s dismissal and hold that Section 20(a) contains a 
culpable participation element, which Appellants fatally failed to 
plead. 

 
Section 20(a) was enacted to impose liability not only on the 

basis of control, but also based on the extent of a defendant’s 
involvement in the allegedly fraudulent conduct.  Rochez Bros., Inc. 
v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 884–85 (3d Cir. 1975).  This conclusion 
is supported by the legislative history of Section 20(a).  Before 
Section 20(a)’s enactment, the Senate proposed that control person 
liability be governed by an “insurer’s liability” standard without 
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regard to culpability, while the House proposed a “fiduciary 
standard” based on a duty of care.  Id. at 885 (citing S. REP. NO. 73-
47, 1st Sess. 5 (1933); H.R. REP. NO. 73-85, 1st Sess. 5 (1933); H.R. 
REP. NO. 73-152, 1st Sess. 27 (1933)).  The fact that Congress 
ultimately adopted the House version indicates that Congress 
intended Section 20(a) liability to depend, at least in part, on the 
state of mind and behavior of the control person and did not intend 
to create insurer’s liability against the fraudulent conduct of another.  
Id.; see also Lanza v. Drexel & Co., 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 
1973).  Without a culpable participation element, Section 20(a) 
would impose insurer’s liability on control persons, regardless of 
whether the control person engaged in any wrongdoing in 
connection with the underlying primary violation.  This result 
cannot be reconciled with Congress’s intent in passing Section 
20(a).  

 
Moreover, to the extent that the majority’s approach was 

plausible prior to passage of the PSLRA, its enactment now 
mandates the conclusion that a plaintiff alleging a claim under 
Section 20(a) must state with particularity the facts demonstrating 
the defendant’s culpable participation.  The PSLRA requires a 
plaintiff “in any private action . . . in which the plaintiff may recover 
money damages only on proof that the defendant acted with a 
particular state of mind” to “state with particularity facts giving rise 
to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the required state 
of mind.”  15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2).  The PSLRA therefore “links its 
heightened pleading standard” to any claim in which “a particular 
state of mind is an element of a plaintiff’s case, regardless of the 
stage at which that element must be proven.”  Mishkin v. Ageloff, 
No. 97 Civ. 2690, 1998 WL 651065, at *23 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 23, 
1998) (Preska, J.).  Because plaintiffs bringing a Section 20(a) claim 
“must ultimately prove the defendant’s state of mind in order to 
prevail,” the PSLRA mandates that they must also comply with the 
heightened pleading requirements in the complaint.  Id.   

 
Therefore, to establish a prima facie case of control person 

liability under Section 20(a), I would hold that a plaintiff must allege 
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(1) a primary violation by the controlled person, (2) control of the 
primary violator by the defendant, and (3) that the defendant was a 
culpable participant in the controlled person’s fraud.  Because 
Appellants failed to allege Wilson’s culpable participation in the 
primary violation, I would affirm the District Court’s dismissal of 
the Section 20(a) claim. 

 
I also note that, while no court has authoritatively defined 

“culpable participation,” courts adopting the requirement agree that 
it requires “at a minimum . . . something more than negligence.”   
Plumbers & Pipefitters Local Union No. 630 Pension-Annuity Tr. 
Fund v. Arbitron, Inc., 741 F. Supp. 2d 474, 491–92 (S.D.N.Y. 
2010).  The text of section (b)(2) of the PSLRA states that the 
heightened pleading requirement is applicable “in any private 
action” under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange 
Act”) requiring proof of the defendant’s particular state of mind.  15 
U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2) (emphasis added).  As several courts have 
noted, this language implies that the pleading requirement should 
apply to Section 20(a) claims, as they arise under the Exchange Act 
and require proof of a defendant’s state of mind.  See Lapin v. 
Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 506 F. Supp. 2d 221, 247 (S.D.N.Y. 
2006); Mishkin, 1998 WL 651065, at *25.  The PSLRA, in turn, 
requires that plaintiffs plead with particularity facts giving rise to a 
strong inference that the defendant acted with the intent to deceive 
shareholders, or with severe recklessness as to the possibility of 
deceiving shareholders.  Lormand, 565 F.3d at 251.  Accordingly, I 
would find that, in order to survive a motion to dismiss, a claim 
under Section 20(a) must allege particularized facts giving rise to a 
strong inference that the control person engaged in conscious 
misbehavior or recklessness with respect to the primary violation. 

 
Not only did the complaint lack the allegation that Wilson 

was a culpable participant in Red River’s primary violation, but the 
facts pleaded also could not support such an allegation.  Appellants 
allege that, throughout the period in which the challenged statements 
were made, Wilson was aware of one report of seismic activity and 
some concern regarding wastewater storage capacity issues.  Even 



 35 

if these allegations could suffice to demonstrate negligence – and I 
doubt that they do – they simply cannot support a claim that Wilson 
engaged in conscious misbehavior or recklessness with respect to an 
alleged primary violation by Red River.  

 
III. CONCLUSION  

 
For the foregoing reasons, I would affirm the decision of the 

District Court for the District of Fordham. 
 



 36 

Appendix A – Statement Chart 
 

# Alleged Statement 
Maker & Source 

Alleged Statement Statement 
Type 

1 March 1, 2018 10-K “Our commitment to the environment is unwavering and constant.” Commitment 
2 March 1, 2018 10-K “There is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling activity continues to be 

conducted in a manner consistent with preventing or remediating any damage 
resulting from an environmental occurrence.” 

Commitment  

3 March 1, 2018 10-K “We continue to conduct frequent environmental practices reviews to assure our 
commitment to environmental best practices and devote our most talented personnel 
and a substantial budget to ensure protection of the environment.” 

Practices 

4 March 1, 2018 10-K “Our commitment to the environment is demonstrated through our investment in and 
adoption of the latest technology in order to minimize water or soil contamination.  
This commitment differentiates us from our competitors.” 

Practices 

5 March 1, 2018 10-K “Fracking involves no serious environmental issues not associated with conventional 
drilling.” 

Risk 

6 Wilson, May 15, 
2018 Investor 
Conference 

“I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the West Texas oil patch.” Wilson  

7 Wilson, May 15, 
2018 Investor 
Conference  

“Candidly, I honestly believe a major environmental event has about a zero percent 
chance of occurring on our property.  We just pay too much attention for that to 
happen.” 

Wilson  

8 June 1, 2018 10-Q “Our operations could be subject to disruption by natural disasters beyond our control, 
including . . . severe storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.” 

Risk  
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(U.S. SUPREME COURT ORDER LIST: 873 U.S.) 
 

FRIDAY, FEBRUARY 1, 2019 
CERTIORARI GRANTED 

 

No. 19-132: Red River; James Wilson v. Teacher 
Retirement System of Fordham; Fordham 
Municipal Retirement Fund, Individually and 
on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated 

 

The petition for a writ of certiorari is 

granted.  This Court may consider the 

following questions raised by the parties: 
 

1. Whether claims challenging certain 

statements describing a company’s 

environmental commitments, practices, and 

risks are inactionable under 15 U.S.C.  

§ 78j(b) as a matter of law, and whether 

those claims adequately plead scienter. 
 

2. Whether a claim for control person 

liability under 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) requires 

an allegation that the control person was a 

culpable participant in the primary 

violation.   

 

Dated:  February 1, 2019 

 

/s/ Jim Beesly Scott 

JIM BEESLY SCOTT, Clerk 


